The University of Manitoba

AN INVESTIGATION OF THE DAILY ACTIVITIES OF . CANADIAN SCHOOL PSYCHOLOGISTS

by

Valerie Harrison

A Thesis Submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

for the Degree of

Master of Education

Department of Educational Psychology

Winnipeg, Manitoba

Permission has been granted to the National Library of Canada to microfilm this thesis and to lend or sell copies of the film.

The author (copyright owner) has reserved other publication rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without his/her written permission.

L'autorisation a été accordée à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de microfilmer cette thèse et de prêter ou de vendre des exemplaires du film.

L'auteur (titulaire du droit d'auteur) se réserve les autres droits de publication; ni la thèse ni de longs extraits de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation écrite.

ISBN 0-315-37336-9

AN INVESTIGATION OF THE DAILY ACTIVITIES OF CANADIAN SCHOOL PSYCHOLOGISTS

BY

VALERIE HARRISON

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies of the University of Manitoba in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of

MASTER OF EDUCATION

© 1987

Permission has been granted to the LIBRARY OF THE UNIVER-SITY OF MANITOBA to lend or sell copies of this thesis, to the NATIONAL LIBRARY OF CANADA to microfilm this thesis and to lend or sell copies of the film, and UNIVERSITY MICROFILMS to publish an abstract of this thesis.

The author reserves other publication rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's written permission.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This survey was mailed as part of a packaged addressed to 630 boards of education in Canada, which included questionnaires to school superintendents, principals, and teachers, as well as school psychologists. The survey package was undertaken in conjunction with Dr. Riva Bartell, Department of Educational Psychology, at the University of Manitoba, and with the support of the Research Branch of the Manitoba Department of Education, who provided the use of their mail services.

Appreciation and gratitude are extended to Dr. Riva Bartell for her ongoing support and guidance, to Dr. Benjamin Levin for his helpful service, and to Dr. Maybelle Ferguson for her assistance.

ABSTRACT

This thesis examines the role of Canadian school psychologists based on a description of their daily activities. A national sample of practising school psychologists responded to a questionnaire measuring certain demographic characteristics, descriptions of their current job functions, as well as perceptions of their training. The main focus of the investigation aimed at providing an objective listing of current job functions, with the school psychologists recording their activities on a specific school day. Results indicated that shool psychologists in Canada appear to spend the largest amount of time on the assessment process and on consultation activities. Demographic characteristics were analyzed to determine effects on both job functions and perceptions of training. Finally, various recommendations are suggested for training and for future research in Canada.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Acknowledgements	ii	
Abstract	iii	
Table of Contents		
List of Tables	v	
Introduction		
Statement of the Problem	1	
Review of the Literature	6	
Summary	24	
Method	25	
Subjects	25	
Instrument	27	
Procedure	28	
Results		
Methodological Difficulties	29	
Daily Activities	34	
Contextual Factors	38	
Perceptions of Training	42	
Discussion		
References		
Appendix: Survey		

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE		PAGE
1	Mean Time Spent on Daily Activities	35
2	Comparison Summary for Daily Activities	36
3	Frequency of Demographic Characteristics	39
4	Perceptions of Training	44
5	Most Useful Part of Training	46
6	Not Enough Emphasis in Training	47

AN INVESTIGATION OF THE DAILY ACTIVITIES OF CANADIAN SCHOOL PSYCHOLOGISTS

Statement of the Problem

Purpose

What do Canadian school psychologists actually do all day? The purpose of this study is to investigate the role of Canadian school psychologists based on a description of their daily activities. Such a list of daily job activities would provide the basis for a more objective description of the actual role of the Canadian school psychologist, in contrast to the ideal role model that generally arises from the school psychology literature. At the same time, training implications are suggested by both the literature review and Canadian school psychologists' perceptions of their own training.

Background of the Problem

Role theory provides a framework, a conceptual language for understanding and describing the problem. Role can be defined as "the set of activities required of an individual occupying a particular position" (Katz & Kahn, 1978, psychologists. 755). However, the school psychologist is not an individual working in isolation, but is part of a complex human organization known as the educational system, a dynamic organization consisting of a network of individuals whose behavior affects the roles of its members. Role theory takes a combined sociological-psychological perspective, wherein the concept of role is the basis upon which the human organization is constructed, and that concept is a three part paradigm described by: 1) normative culture patterns (the norms or rules inherent within the organization), 2) the

expectations held by the people interacting within the organization, and 3) the actual behavior of the occupants of the role positions (Roos & Starke, 1981). Thus, the organization is a structure of roles, or clusters of activities, in which the structure consists of acts or events rather than unchanging physical components (Katz & Kahn, 1978). Ultimately, the structure of an organization is contained in its various functions, the set of activities required of each role. However, those activities occur within a broader, and largely given context, a situational context which forms the organizational antecedents of these roles (Kahn et al., 1981). That context includes more than just normative culture patterns, but is extended to include other organizational factors, such as the physical properties of the environment, the structure of interrelationships between persons involved in the organization, and the enduring properties of the individual (Kahn et al., 1981).

Roles give form to an organization, but are not constant; in the dynamic human organization, they develop through the continuing processes involved in role enactment. Basically, the process is composed of a cyclic and ongoing sequence in which certain role expectations or standards are communicated by the expectations of role senders (the people interacting with the role participant), then these expectations are perceived by the role receiver and translated by him into role behavior (Katz & Kahn, 1978). This process is itself shaped by contextual factors. Thus, an understanding of a specific role necessitates an awareness of its contextual influences and dynamic interactions, so as to place it into a perspective that would explain

how that role emerged and developed. Role can be described either by examining the present state of the model, or by inquiring into the preferred state (Katz & Kahn, 1978), but the means for measuring whether any change has taken place must consist of an investigation of actual functions.

The issue of role definition in school psychology has gradually developed over the past several years, propelled partially by outer forces altering the generic educational system in which the school psychologist works. At the same time, the school psychologist's role has also been altered by changing expectations of those people who interact with the psychologist within this system. General economic restraint requires school psychologists to justify their existence in the schools (Bowser, 1982), while at the same time, government legislation has required organizational changes in the school system to accommodate the handicapped, who have been guaranteed a right to an education (Kratochwill, 1985). The psychologist's role has become increasingly complex due to the increased need for specialists in various areas of exceptionality such as learning disabilities, communication disorders, etc. (Hohenshil, 1975; Seaton, 1975; Fenton et al., 1977; Hendrix, 1981; Murray & Wallbrown, 1981; Timm, 1982). Mainstreaming has placed increased pressure onto the psychologist for specific advice which would provide practical help for the regular classroom teacher, not vague reports that lack relevance (Monroe, 1979; Ysseldyke, 1979). Such expectations for multiple role enactment create role conflict and a possible impetus for direct change in the role structure of the educational system. Further, and more fundamental to

the school psychologist's basic role, the traditional assessment role, and the tests used in this process, have been seriously criticized in the literature (Brown, 1977; Wallace & Larsen, 1978; Ysseldyke, 1979), although psychodiagnosis for classification purposes is still identified as the psychologists' primary function (Winikur & Daniels, 1982). A common theme runs through the school psychology research (expressed most succinctly by Maggs & White, 1982): the psychologist is facing a new era of professional accountability, in which assessment is no longer acceptable as the role raison d'être. Hayes and Clair (1978) claim that the traditional role is no longer tenable, that death of the profession is imminent unless a new image and role are surfaced. However, before accepting this opinion, it is important to investigate the current status of the profession.

Significance of the Problem

The theoretical significance of the issue surrounding role definition is reflected in the professional literature, which has increasingly been dominated by discussions on the proper role of the school psychologist (Clark & Reynolds, 1981; Ysseldyke, 1982; Bardon, 1982, 1983). However, such discussions, almost exclusively American, may be based within a socio-cultural context that differs from that of the Canadian school psychologist, and therefore the model suggested by the literature may be less relevant for Canadians. Also, many research articles studied role definition solely on the basis of expectations and perceptions, a method which includes only one part of a comprehensive study of role theory, and which may give a somewhat distorted view of the actual role and limit the resulting picture of the school

psychologist. A more objective investigation of role model based on the daily functions actually performed by school psychologists would add to the current research, to provide a more theoretically complete concept of the school psychologist's role. More important, actual activities are the basic units of role theory (Katz & Kahn, 1978), and as such, should not be ignored.

An investigation into the role of the school psychologist would have practical significance as well. Literary discussions of an exemplary school psychology practice do provide a model for school psychologists in the field, communicating the kinds of services that should be offered (Ysseldyke, 1978), and providing a guide for professional development efforts (Sandoval & Lambert, 1977). Psychologists must keep abreast of recent research to improve their everyday practice, and ultimately to take control of their own professional destiny (Grimes, 1981; Rosenfield, 1981). Finally, role model investigations suggest training needs in graduate programs at universities and direct a similar revision of certification requirements. Universities (and certification boards) should adapt to changing trends within the profession by requiring coursework relevant to the actual practice of school psychologists in the field. Research into the role and function of school psychologists has significant value for the profession.

Review of the Literature

Organizational Context

The definition of role - "a set of activities required of an individual occupying a particular position" (Katz & Kahn, 1978) - can be explained, according to role theory, in three conceptual parts: organizational context, expectations, and actual behavior. Organizational context refers to the particular position that role occupies conceptually within the human organization, so that role is indigenous to the position rather than to the person occupying that role. (That is, the person may change, but the role endures.) position is influenced by both the socio-cultural background and the situational factors, which interrelate to form a setting in which role behavior takes place. Thus, the organizational context consists of the norms or standards of the organization, its hierarchical structure, and the physical environment, but can be extended to include the enduring properties of the individual (Katz & Kahn, 1978; Kahn et al., 1981). Norms or standards are not role specific, but are accepted organization-wide. For example, the school psychologist's role is shaped by the general goals and values of the profession, whether those may be improving mental health in the schools (Maroldo, 1972; Cowen & Lorion, 1976; Oakland, 1976), or improving the quality of instruction and learning (Maggs & White, 1982; Reilly, 1984), or simply serving children and the schooling process as effectively as possible (Barbanel & Hoffenberg-Rutman, 1974; Ysseldyke, 1982). However, cultural norms are but one of many factors involved in the definition of a role.

In addition, properties of the organizational structure, such as

the role participant's position within the network of interrelated sets of roles, also affects the content of his role. School psychologists may occupy various types of role sets. Depending on the type of school division, psychologists may work alone (as the only nonteaching specialist in the district), they may work as one member of a team of different specialists (including speech pathologist, social worker, etc.), or they may work in a clinical setting with a group of colleagues (Fagan, 1981). Previous theorists believed that the structural properties of any human organization are of such importance in providing the context for role enactment within that organization that these existing elements predetermine the content of tasks in a given role, to result in a fixed-role concept (Roos & Starke, 1981). Elements of the organizational structure do have a powerful influence for change on the individual roles within that organization, but probably more appropriate is an eclectic view, in which organizational structure is one of many important factors that combine to determine role.

Organizational factors also include enduring background characteristics of the individual (such as training), which influence the content of role because these characteristics usually relate directly to one's position in the authority hierarchy, and also because the emphasis of these specific cultural influences affects how the role and function is perceived by each psychologist. Training, which includes academic education, practical experience, and continuing professional development (Engin & Johnson, 1983), largely determines both the nature of the services provided and the school psychologists' competence (Ysseldyke, 1978). For example, those trained by Education

departments would probably stress the importance of instructional intervention, while those who received clinical training might favour an emphasis on mental health (Bardon, 1982, 1983). Whether the psychologist holds a Masters or a Doctoral degree could also influence the kinds of duties involved (Meacham & Peckham, 1978; Kratochwill, 1985; Fisher et al., 1986), especially if it leads to a supervisory position. Although some role theorists minimize the importance of individual factors in changing a role (Katz & Kahn, 1978; Kahn et al., 1981), training must be an important factor in role determination due to its multifaceted effects as an individual characteristic, cultural influence, and organizational property, all exerting influence on role behavior. Thus, training is an important organizational factor to consider in any study of role behavior.

In the school psychology literature, the characteristics of the setting in which psychologists work is an organizational variable that receives considerable attention. For example, physical properties of the environment, such as urban vs rural, may dictate role emphasis. Compared to urban settings, those who work in rural school districts apparently have a more diverse role, spend less time in traditional assessment activities, and are more likely to engage in activities involving them at the systems and community levels (Hughes & Clark, 1981). In addition, school psychologists working in rural settings have special problems serving minority children due to isolation of schools, and due to local biases and values (Gerkin, 1981). One environmental factor, size, raised conflicting views of the research literature, with one study suggesting that size of school district may have little

relationship to role definition (Benson & Hughes, 1985), while another (Evans, 1979) found that reducing the ratio of pupils per psychologist was a frequently recommended means of improving psychological services. It seems clear that characteristics of the setting may impose limitations on the kinds of services provided by the school psychologist, and therefore must be included in any investigation of their role.

Most research available to Canadian school psychologists has been conducted in the United States, which may provide a different social, cultural, and legal context for psychologists, one that may not be generalizable to Canadian school psychologists. However, Canadian research into the role of the school psychologist has been scarce. study (Schapira et al., 1977) compared the training and practice of school psychology in the U.S. and in Ontario, Canada. Results showed that the role functions were very similar, providing some justification for using American literature to study role model. However, this research, limited to only one province, may not be generalizable to the whole of Canadian school psychologists. Another (Violato et al., 1981) investigated the general public's perceptions of the role of school psychologists. While this study may point out the need to educate the general public about school psychology, it offers no useful information about role model due to invalid sample selection procedures and lack of evidence regarding the accuracy of the public's perceptions. Since most of the available research was carried out in the United States, more Canadian studies are needed to confirm whether the role model presented by American literature actually exists in Canada.

Expectations

In addition to organizational factors, the definition of role alludes to another major concept in role theory when it describes "the set of activities required of an individual", (Katz & Kahn, 1978), suggesting that some forces are exerting pressure on the individual. These influential forces consist of role expectations; that is, the other members of the organization in which the person belongs form expectations, develop beliefs and attitudes about what the role participant should do, and subsequently require these activities of the role participant (Katz & Kahn, 1978). Thus, the role of the school psychologist is often described on the basis of information provided by the members of his role set, the other professionals in the school system - teachers and administrators.

Results of research since 1970 indicate that perceptions of teachers and administrators were somewhat similar. Both viewed the psychologists' major function as assessment and diagnosis of individuals, although administrators would prefer to employ a school psychologist functioning primarily as a generalist, capable of performing many functions (Kirschner, 1971; Vance, 1971; Kaplan et al., 1977; Lesiak & Lounsbury, 1977; Landau & Gerkin, 1979). The ideal school psychologist described by the administrators functions in a change agent role, a facilitator of personnel and a major resource person in providing in-service training to staff members (Granowsky & Davis, 1974; McBride & Morrow, 1977; Carroll et al., 1978), and serving as liaison agent between schools and the community (Senft & Clair, 1972; Lesiak & Lounsbury, 1977). Similar to the administrators, teachers also

perceived the psychologist as primarily a psychometrist and diagnostician, but their perspective tended to be less broad. Teachers often viewed the psychologist as a specialist in emotional rather than academic problems (Gilmore & Chandy, 1973; Kahl & Fine, 1978; Dean, 1980; Bowen & Dalton, 1981), and highly favoured the psychologist in a consulting role (Waters, 1973; Medway, 1975; Kahl & Fine, 1978), working as the assessment and psychology expert on a multidisciplinary team which directly serves the child (Oakland, 1976; Winikur & Daniels, 1982; Maher & Yoshida, 1985). Both suggested that psychologists engage in more student counseling (Evans, 1979; Bowen & Dalton, 1981; Hartshorne & Johnson, 1985). Typically, teachers and administrators each preferred the psychologist helping in areas most closely related to their own job function. Thus, these role senders - teachers and administrators - have an important influence on role definition by communicating their expectations to the school psychologist.

Although teachers and administrators might appear to be a logical population to survey regarding the school psychologist's role, role theorists suggest that members of a role set are often in disagreement with respect to what a focal person should do (Katz & Kahn, 1978), and, as a result, problems exist that cause the accuracy of their reports to be questioned. For example, administrators are often only peripherally involved in most psychologists' activities, and thus would have limited knowledge about the school psychologists' role (Sandoval & Lambert, 1977). Also, teachers have a response set designed to show preference for psychological services which do not intrude on their prerogatives (Roberts, 1970; Vance, 1972; Ford & Migles, 1979). Generally, survey

experts suggest that reports about others are 10 to 20% less accurate than reports about the respondents' own behavior (Sudman & Bradburn, 1983). In fact, teachers' perceptions of how psychologists spend their time were found to be inaccurate when compared to the psychologist's actual daily log (Roberts, 1970; Davis, 1977; Medway, 1977; Abel and Burke, 1985). We cannot measure the behavior of the role participant solely in terms of the perceptions of role senders, since their perceptions are affected by the state of their interpersonal relations with the role participant and by the aspects of their own personality, which cause some perceptual distortion. Finally, this type of population is difficult to define statistically. The researcher faces two options: surveying every teacher and administrator, which includes in the population many who have had no contact with a psychologist, or choosing a biased population by allowing the psychologists to distribute the questionnaire to their clients. (Medway, 1977, created a particularly biased group of participants by asking 15 school psychology interns to nominate teachers from those with whom they had contact during their internship.) Thus, studies based on teachers' or administrators' perceptions of psychological services tend to reflect subjective opinions, biased by their own individual needs and amount of contact with the psychologist. Although teacher-administrator surveys can give psychologists useful feedback about what services consumers want, these surveys can only provide a description of their ideal role model for the school psychologist, which may be unrealistic. expectations of these role senders have an important influence on the role of the school psychologist; however, by themselves expectations

form an incomplete concept of role, and thus are inadequate. Further, expectations of others have been thoroughly studied in the school psychology literature, while additional research is needed in other areas, such as actual behavior.

The definition of role ("the set of activities required of an individual occuping a particular position" (Katz & Kahn, 1978) emphasizes the importance of the individual role participant in the determination of role behavior. Thus, the expectations of the individual role participant are considerably important (Benson & Hughes, 1985), for he receives and interprets expectations sent by others, and brings a set of his own attitudes and beliefs, values and expectations, to the role. As role receiver, the participant not only receives the role communication from others, but is motivated by that communication in varying ways (both positively and negatively), and is, finally, the one who actually acts and behaves in the role (Katz & Kahn, 1978). Indeed, in choosing a population to survey regarding the role of the school psychologist, recent research has often focused on the perceptions of school psychologists themselves. Such surveys of psychologists consistently agree that the most time consuming function of their job is assessment, although they would prefer to spend more time in consultation activities (Cook & Patterson, 1977; Bowen & Dalton, 1981; Lacayo et al., 1981; Winikur & Daniels, 1982; Eitel et al., 1984). When psychologists' perceptions of role functions are compared to teachers' and administrators' descriptions, psychologists tend to define their role more narrowly (Fenn, 1977), probably because a heavy case load restricts the time available for developing more diverse activities

(Evans, 1979). Some role theorists believe that individual characteristics are less important for shaping role than other contextual factors or than expectations of others, especially as an impetus for change (Katz & Kahn, 1978; Kahn et al., 1981). However, the importance of the role receiver function interacts with specific individual characteristics, magnifying the importance of the individual role participant. Thus, the school psychologist is the most objective and accurate person to survey regarding his own role description.

Although psychologists provide a more accurate and realistic picture of their role than teachers or administrators, difficulties still exist with research that elicits psychologists' perceptions and expectations. One difficulty, sample selection, is a methodological consideration. Many studies defined their population of school psychologists by surveying national associations of school psychologists (Meacham & Peckham, 1978; Lacayo et al., 1981; Graden et al., 1984; Kaulfam et al., 1984; Benson & Hughes, 1985; Copeland & Miller, 1985; Fisher et al., 1986). Less than half of all school psychologists are members of the national association (Reschly, 1984; Fagan, 1987), and therefore a sample based on such membership would not really represent the population of interest.

National surveys often produced poor response rates, compounding the difficulty regarding representative data. Response rates of these national surveys varied from 19% (Meacham & Peckham, 1978) to 45% (Lacayo et al., 1981). Better response rate (84%) was found in one national survey (Davis, 1977), but the population was restricted to special IGE schools in the U.S., with a small sample (50), where

telephone follow-up could be used. Some researchers failed to report the response variable (Schapira et al., 1977; Evans, 1979; Bowen & Dalton, 1981; Winikur & Daniels, 1982). Representative national surveys are important for producing general role descriptions. However, some of the studies in this literature review used convenient, restricted, or captive samples (Giebink & Ringness, 1970; Medway, 1977; Carroll et al., 1978; Senf & Senf, 1982; Eitel et al., 1984) which produced biased results. Some researchers surveyed psychologists by personal interview (Keogh et al., 1975), or used case studies (Briggs, 1973; Robinson et al., 1985), which produced small samples with resulting limited generalizability. One neglected to describe his sampling techniques (Evans, 1979). These sample selection problems do raise questions regarding the validity of the research results.

Other difficulties with surveys of school psychologists are more basic to role theory considerations. Expectations make up only one part of a concept of role, yet are often used as the basis for research. In the research literature, surveys of school psychologists too frequently focused on perceptions and preferences, attempting to describe the role model by asking respondents to rate job functions according to what they would prefer to do, to express an opinion by rating the perceived importance of their job functions (Cook & Patterson, 1977; Schapira et al., 1977; Meacham & Peckham, 1978; Evans, 1979; Benson & Hughes, 1985; Fisher et al., 1986). This method cast doubt on the accuracy of the results, because such a rating scale distorts answers by the tendency of responses to gravitate towards the median. Similarly subjective, one survey rank ordered the job functions according to perceived importance

(Meacham & Peckham, 1978). Thus, although psychologists appear to be the most informed population to survey in seeking information about role model, a survey of their perceptions and preferences tends to describe a model of the ideal role that psychologists would like to fulfill, rather than what is actually happening. Information on ideal role, or the preferred state of the system, mainly shows the measure of satisfaction or dissatisfaction with the present role, rather than an accurate description of the content of that role. Role content would be better described by more direct reporting methods.

Our definition states that role is the "set of activities required of an individual occupying a particular position" (Katz & Kahn, 1978), identifying activities as the basic act or function that constitutes a role. If functions or activities are the basic components of role model, the foundations upon which the educational organization is structured, it is important to find out what are the typical job functions of the school psychologist. The functions described in the literature are not actual activities performed, but are those preferred or judged most importnat, suggesting a model of the ideal role of school psychologists.

The literature indicates that these role functions can be described under five main headings: assessment, consultation, program development, counseling, and research (Murray & Wallbrown, 1981). The ideal role model portrayed by the literature includes a broad, flexible assessment function, which relies upon multiple sources of information, including a variety of tests, behavioral observations, and interviews with significant others (Cook & Patterson, 1977; Fagan, 1981; Ysseldyke,

1982; Scholl, 1985). Ideally, assessment practices should be directed toward planning instructional interventions (Maggs & White, 1982; Ysseldyke, 1978, 1982). Although most of their time is spent in assessment, another activity, consultation, is sometimes described as the most important function of the profession today (Briggs, 1973; Cook & Patterson, 1977). The school psychologist may serve as a consultant in a variety of ways (Alpert, 1977; Murray & Wallbrown, 1981; Fairchild, 1982), including mental health consultation (Maroldo, 1972; Cowen & Lorion, 1976), organization development consultation (Illback & Maher, 1984), and behavioral consultation (Gresham, 1982; Robinson, 1985).

Program development is another area in which the psychologist can serve the child, turning a broad general background of knowledge in learning theory, child development, behavior disorders, behavior modification, etc. into effective remedial and prescriptive programs (Murray & Wallbrown, 1981; Maggs & White, 1982). Psychologists are in a unique position to recognize and identify problems that may be related to a particular school or a particular grade level, and to use this knowledge on committees charged with recommending curriculum changes; they can also be powerful advocates for the child in obtaining appropriate services (Scholl, 1985). The psychologists can also become involved in counseling individual students or developing counseling programs for groups of special needs students (Shellenberger & Couch, 1984; Hartshorne & Johnson, 1985).

Finally, a vital part of the psychologist's role is research, for the psychologist is the ideal professional within the school setting to affect a linking of formal knowledge to educational practice (Miller, 1978; Maggs & White, 1982; Stewart, 1984). The psychologist can identify specific unmet needs of the school and community, and generate interest in research, as well as ensure that prescriptive programs are based on current and proven practices. Thus, the research literature describes many diverse and complex functions, which essentially describe a model of the ideal school psychologist, and which also provide the content for further research surveys into the role of the school psychologist.

Actual Behavior

As stated previously, role can be defined partly by the given context provided by organizational factors, and partly by the expectations of both others and the role participant himself. Finally, role is explained through the enactment of role behavior, which consists of the specific actions of the individual. These functions, the set of activities that describe the content of that role, are the essential components for describing the actual behavior of the role participant. Actual behavior shows the initial state of the system, and provides a baseline against which future change can be measured (Katz & Kahn, 1981). Activities or functions also reveal whether any change has taken place, acting as the basic units for documenting change and development in the role.

Despite numerous articles consisting of theoretical discussions of role definition (Hayes & Clair, 1978; Miller, 1978; Maggs & White, 1982; Ysseldyke, 1982; etc.), the research literature has largely failed to present an accurate description of the school psychologists' role because it has not focused on this basic concept of role. Most studies

investigated perceptions of ideal role, rather than actual role.

Research must provide a knowledge base describing the realities of the field, to ensure a balance between the 'real' and 'ideal' in school psychological services (Conoley & Gutkin, 1986). In the final analysis, actual behavior is the most definitive component of the concept of role. What the school psychologist does, the actual daily functions or set of activities, provides the basic description of role.

Direct research into the functions of school psychologists is needed. A direct method of describing their activities would be to record actual time spent on each activity. Time is important not only because it can be objectively counted or tallied, but also because time is an important concept in itself. How a person chooses to spend his time gives valuable corroborative information about values and expectations, about what activities are judged important enough to spend time doing (Capelle, 1979). In addition, this information provides insight into a source of role conflict, if a person spends little time on those activities he values highly (Kahn et al., 1981). Primarily, however, measuring time spent on an activity is an objective method of describing actual behaviors.

Unfortunately, some surveys purported to describe the actual functions of school psychologists, but failed to use objective methodology. Instead, psychologists were asked to estimate the amount of time spent on general job functions based organization their perceptions of what they usually do, by retrospectively estimating amount of time as a percent averaged over the week (Keogh et al., 1975; Cook & Patterson, 1977; Hughes & Clark, 1981; Benson & Hughes, 1985).

Winnikur and Daniels (1982) used a forced-choice format, wherein psychologists checked the category estimating amount of time spent on each function. All of these methods are highly subjective, rely on retrospective judgements and general estimates, and ultimately produce a distorted picture of the school psychologist's role. These studies attempted to describe actual role functions by means of opinions and general estimates, which causes the accuracy of the results to be questioned. More objective research methods are needed. One researcher (Eitel, 1984) collected objective data using trained observers to record the daily activities of psychologists in one school division, but this sample was so small (11 psychologists) that it would be inappropriate to generalize the results to other days, or to all school psychologists.

Lacayo, Sherwood, and Morris (1981) improved on the available research by using an objective method while still maintaining the national representation possible in a self-report survey of school psychologists. Their study was objective in that it required psychologists to record their activities on a particular day (not a rough estimate generated over 'usual' weekly functions), which forced the self-reporter to focus on factual data, and, preferably, to reduce the recall factor by consulting a daily log or appointment book (Moser & Kalton, 1974; Sudman & Bradburn, 1983). The day chosen was within the past week, so that selective memory was less involved. Also, the daily activities record consisted of already existing occurrences, which left little room for subjective judgements. Listing the actual time spent on each activity in minutes, rather than as a percent, was a particularly objective method. In addition, Lacayo and his associates produced a

more comprehensive list of suggested activities, including various kinds of counseling and consultation, and including routine daily functions (such as driving or lunch), as well as an opportunity for respondents to add categories not covered. Finally, Lacayo confirmed the appropriateness of the activities chosen by conducting a pilot study which included over 200 psychologists.

Although Lacayo and his associates produced an objective study of the daily activities of school psychologists, supplemental research is needed to improve on a number of areas. First, research carried out in the United States, a different social, economic, and cultural setting, may not be generalizable to Canadian school psychologists. Also, the demographic items on the survey were limited, omitting such important variables as experience, certification, type of school district, and administrative position. More fundamental, Lacayo's literature review was extremely brief and provided no conceptual framework for the study of role. It focused primarily on the need for representative research, limiting the discussion of research on preferred role to five studies, and missing some important issues, such as the general goal to focus on learning. As a result, classroom intervention and program development were omitted from the list of activities. The assessment-observation activities and consulting with other professionals, which would give an indication of how broad a function the assessment process is, were also not included. As well, 'other office duties' were included in the category 'report writing', making it impossible to separate assessment activities from other activities, and thus confounding the results. Lacayo study neglected to inquire whether the activities reported

comprised a typical day, creating uncertainty about the veracity of the aggregate results. Finally, the introduction commented on the need for information to suggest training needs in graduate programs, but the authors asked no questions in this area and made no training suggestions in their discussion of the results. Supplemental research is needed to investigate the daily activities of school psychologists, and to suggest training methods.

Training Implications

It is important to investigate perceptions of training in conjunction with an investigation of the daily job functions of school psychologists, because job activities are often related to previous training (Meacham & Peckham, 1978; Fisher et al., 1986). A review of the literature suggests possible improvements in the content of training programs to the universities who educate the school psychologists. researchers concluded that more training was required in specific areas, such as neuropsychology (Hynd et al., 1980; Cruickshank, 1981), behavior change techniques (Giebink & Ringness, 1970; Miller, 1974; Robinson et al., 1985), promoting the health and well-being of children (Shellenberger & Couch, 1984), or teaching exceptional children (Keogh et al., 1975; Hayes & Clair, 1978; Cegalka, 1982). Many felt that teacher training is essential to accomplish effective communication with teachers (Keogh, 1975; Hayes & Clair, 1978; Ysseldyke, 1978; Cruickshank, 1981; Cegalka, 1982). These researchers favoured more specialization in specific competencies that would be functional in the Grubb (1981) summed up this viewpoint, stating that too many contemporary school psychologists were 'overgeneralized generalists'.

Other researchers (Meacham & Peckham, 1978; Bevan, 1981; Trachtman, 1981) argued that too much specificity in training would be inappropriate, producing narrow specialists lacking an understanding of psychology.

Discussions of training often focused on assessment, which is seen as the subject most emphasized by training programs. Indeed, Genshaft (1984) viewed assessment as the conceptual core of training that is expected and even demanded by consumers of psychological services. However, training in assessment apparently still requires improvement. When asked to rate the quality of their training, students and practitioners perceived that they were trained best for assessment, but the quality was never rated higher than average and the need for more training was indicated (Graden et al., 1984). Other researchers have stressed the need for additional training in special types of assessment, such as reading assessment (Lewis, 1984), neurological assessment, infant and preschool assessment (Copeland and Miller, 1985), and a particular need for training in the assessment of special populations, such as the severely handicapped (Robinson, 1983; Forcade, 1984), and the hearing impaired (Trott, 1984). A broader assessment course was desired, including psychoeducational assessment, prescriptive program planning, and follow-up evaluations (Vance et al., 1974; Cegalka, 1982). Other training recommendations included the importance of internship and practical experience (Giebink & Ringness, 1970; Weininger, 1971; Copeland & Miller, 1985), and the need for school and clinical students to view each others' different role conceptions (Tolor & Brannigan, 1976). As well, training in applied research (in

cooperation with practitioners in the field), would benefit the school system generally and also influence the school's perception of the school psychologist's role (Stewart, 1984). Universities can use such research results to better prepare their students by matching ideal functions described in the literature with various training components of their program, and by incorporating research recommendations into their training requirements.

Summary

The role of the school psychologist is defined by its environmental context, the expectations of significant others in the same organization, the expectations of the role participant himself, and the actual behavior of the role participant. All have an important influence on role definition, with the context creating a given setting for role behavior, and expectations shaping the enactment of that role behavior. Essentially, the actual behavior of the role participant conforms to certain aspects of the given context, is translated from the expectations, and finally becomes the content of that role. activities involved in the actual behavior of the role participant thus ultimately define the role and provide a baseline against which to measure future role behavior, eventually documenting future change and development of the role. In defining the role of the Canadian school psychologist, previous studies have often focused on expectations and preferences, rather than on more factual information. The psychologist is the most knowledgeable person to ask for information about role, and actual behavior is the fundamental unit for describing that role. addition, information about which training programs are most useful to

school psychologists in the field can be valuable to school psychology students and universities. Thus, two main issues are the focus of this study. 1. What are the actual activities of Canadian school psychologists in practice? 2. How useful was the school psychologists' training, and what area of training was given insufficient emphasis? Further elaboration would find out whether the daily activities vary as a function of certain background variables (such as training and certification of the psychologist or characteristics of the environmental context in which the psychologist works), and whether perceptions of training are affected by the kind of training a person has received.

Method

Subjects

The school psychologist was defined as that psychologist who has chosen to work in the school. Psychologists were chosen as the target population to eliminate inaccuracies inherent with perceptions of others. However, problems were encountered in surveying school psychologists. First, the definition of a school psychologist is not exclusive, since the population apparently varies considerably, with some people who work as school psychologists coming from certification or training in areas other than formal school psychology programs (Meacham & Peckham, 1978; Evans, 1979; Fisher et al., 1986). In an effort to clarify that each respondent actually was working as a school psychologist, respondents were asked to list their job title, as well as information about their certification, training and experience.

Second, it was difficult to obtain a list of the target population. Many American surveys used members of school psychologist associations as their population. In Canada, it was found, this method would not produce a representative sample, since not all provinces boast a local association of school psychologists, and there is no Canadian national association of school psychologists. Some belong, instead, to the American association, or to the Canadian association of psychologists in general. Therefore, the individual school divisions in Canada were used as the medium for reaching the school psychologists in their employ. Such a cluster type of sampling method is useful when it is impractical to compile an exhaustive list of the subjects in the target population (Babbie, 1973). It was assumed that each school division could identify their own school psychologist. Questionnaires were mailed to 630 boards of education in Canada, including the 10 provinces and the northern territories.

Unfortunately, a number of problems were encountered due to this method of subject selection. Estimating the size of the survey population was the first problem encountered, due to the fact that large urban school divisions typically employ a number of school psychologists, while smaller rural divisions often share one psychologist. Therefore, the number of questionnaires mailed (630) did not necessarily equal the number of psychologists sampled. An attempt was made to describe the population more fully (Moser & Kalton, 1974), by asking each respondent to list the number of school psychologists employed by their school division. Another problem resulted from each school division receiving only one questionnaire: there was a

possibility that urban psychologists would be underrepresented, thus creating a biased sample. This problem was controlled by asking respondents to report whether they were urban or rural. Finally, sending only one questionnaire to each school division weighted the possibilities in favour of the chief psychologist becoming the respondent. Any bias resulting from this possibility was controlled by asking whether the respondent held an administrative position.

<u>Instrument</u>

A research questionnaire (see Appendix) was designed according to the recommendations in the literature regarding important role functions of the school psychologist (Cook & Patterson, 1977; Schapira et al., 1977; Evans, 1979; Lacayo et al., 1981; Murray & Wallbrown, 1981; etc.), and following suggestions for constructing a brief, simple, and cleanly designed questionnaire (Gay, 1981; Sudman & Bradburn, 1983). The questionnaire was divided into three sections, each serving a specific function. The Demographics section was designed to obtain a description of the individual characteristics, training, and work setting of each psychologist. A measure of the amount of time spent on each activity was obtained in the second section, which entailed a description of one day's work activities, similar to the study by Lacayo, Sherwood & Morris (1981). The response spaces were divided into 15 minute intervals over a nine hour day, to allow flexibility for responses to be entered. A suggested activity list was provided which included 16 possible activities, but psychologists were free to write in their own. activity list was similar to that of Lacayo et al. (1981), but with the addition of the activities: assessment-observation, classroom

intervention, program development, and consultation with other specialists. In addition, a sample activity list was attached to ensure clarity of instructions. Finally, in the four open-ended questions, the psychologist was requested to discuss the usefulness of his training, and was allowed to express any opinions or perceptions not previously covered by the structured questions. The questionnaire was validated by personal interview with a selected sample of 4 psychologists, who were encouraged to make comments concerning clarity of instructions, recording procedures, and specific items. The questionnaire was then revised accordingly.

Procedure

The questionnaire was mailed in conjunction with Dr. Riva Bartell's research survey, as part of a package which included questionnaires to school superintendents, principals, and teachers, as well as school psychologists. The package was addressed to the "school psychologist", then mailed to 630 school boards across Canada. A table of random numbers was used to randomly select the school boards that would be surveyed. Mailing took place during the first part of May, to avoid school holidays. The deadline for replies was listed as May 31, although returns were accepted until the end of the school year. The questionnaire was accompanied by a stamped return envelope and a cover letter explaining the issue and its significance (see Appendix). On the Daily Activities part of the survey, psychologists were asked to describe their job activities for yesterday (or the last working day). Finally, to provide an indication of whether the particular day chosen might have affected the accuracy of the results, psychologists were

asked if this was a typical day, and if not, to explain.

Results

Methodological Difficulties

Returns

Using school divisions as the target for mailing meant that the potential sample size was indefinite, because an unknown number of school divisions had no school psychologist. As a result, response rate was difficult to determine. If the number mailed was used as a basis for calculating return rate, 245 of the 630 questionnaires mailed were returned, yielding a 39% return rate. However, response rate should be based on net sample size, omitting those that could not be delivered (Babbie, 1973). A detailed analysis of the 108 blank returns revealed that 81 (33%) stated "no school psychologist in this division" as the reason for returning a blank questionnaire. Assuming that one third of the total sample was undeliverable, response would remain unchanged, at Twenty-two of the respondents gave no reason for the blank return, and five others had various reasons for not completing the questionnaire, including: too time consuming, not a typical day, too near the end of the school year, and the questionnaire arrived after the deadline. Seven others excluded were either incomplete or were completed by administrators who indicated that the questionnaire was not appropriate to their present job. Returns were accepted from all those who identified themselves as occupying the role of the psychologist in their school division, either by their job title, education, certification, or work experience. Finally, 130 questionnaires were

deemed usable.

Sampling Method

In an effort to estimate how thoroughly this sampling method covered the total population of school psychologists, respondents were asked to list the number of school psychologists in their division. Of the 147 who completed the demographics section of the questionnaire, 55 indicated that there were 2 or more school psychologists in their division. A total of 450 school psychologists worked in the school divisions of the respondents, with the number per school division varying from 1 to 55 psychologists, while, in other cases, as many as six school divisions shared one psychologist. In estimating how thoroughly this survey method samples school psychologists, it seems appropriate to conclude that at least one third of the surveys were redundant (that is, sent to school divisions that had no school psychologist), while the others samples only about 37% of the possible population of school psychologists.

Typical Day

The question about typical day was intended to serve as an indication of the psychologists' perceptions of whether the day sampled provided a reasonable estimate of their usual job functions. However, while most of the respondents (74 or 57%) indicated that this was a typical day, thirty (23%) said it was not a typical day, and 26 (20%) gave no reply to the question. It seems that those who did not reply may simply have missed the question, due to its unobtrusive position on the questionnaire, immediately under the diary of the day. Those who gave a 'no' response were closely examined in an effort to explain why

so many replied that this was not a typical day. Many (43%) indicated that their job offered such variety that there was never a typical day, while others (26%) reported that the manner in which they organized their time into large blocks of one job function on one day (ie. a whole day of consultation while visiting a rural school, or a whole day of writing reports back at the office) resulted in never having a 'typical' day. A few (4%) suggested that the time of year (ie. more consultation with parents near the end of the school year, or more meetings generally) could affect the functions performed on a particular day.

Some (13%) did most of their report writing and some parent consultation in the evenings and on week-ends. The rest (14%) did perceive that day to have more or less testing, driving, meetings, etc. than on a usual day. Since only one person failed to give a reason for his 'no' response, the above represents a fairly accurate description of those respondents who stated that the day in question was not typical.

With only 57% of the respondents perceiving the day in question as typical, confidence in the results is reduced. It might be prudent to use only the results from those psychologists who described their day as typical, but this would greatly reduce the generalizability of the results because of the smaller number remaining in the sample. A decision about whether to use the whole sample of 130 or whether to use only the 74 who answered 'Yes, this was a typical day', becomes a trade-off between weakening the study by including all or weakening the results by using a smaller number. From the reasons given by the 'no' respondents, it seems that many of them regard their job as so varied that there is no such thing as a typical day. Thus, it seems reasonable

that, if many said there is never a typical day, perhaps that is typical of the school psychologist's role, and the overall averaging of activities will hide those atypical days. Based on this rationale, it seems preferable to include in the study all 130 cases. Although the school psychologists' job apparently offered much variety of function, the overall aggregate of reported daily activities should give a reasonably typical profile of how the school psychologists spend their time.

The three groups of Typical Day responses ('Yes', 'No', and 'No Response') were analyzed to determine whether the groups varied as a function of demographic variables, using Chi Square as a measure of significance. No significant differences were found between the groups. The three groups were further analyzed on the basis of the Daily Activities, to determine whether they differed according to the activities performed on that day. Analysis of variance was used to determine significant interactions, and the Scheffe test was then conducted to identify which means were significant. In addition, the Bartlett-Box \underline{F} test was used to measure homogeneity of variance. Results showed significant differences between the groups on two activities: the 'No' group did no research ($\underline{F}(2,127) = 4.21$, $\underline{p} < .05$) and less testing ($\underline{F}(2,127) = 6.31$ $\underline{p} = .01$).

Because no differences were found on the demographic variables using Chi Square, and because Chi Square tends to increase the probability of finding chance significance, perhaps this no difference result can be viewed with some confidence. On the other hand, Chi Square may be unsuitable for use in making conclusions about a

population that may not be normal (Weinberg & Goldberg, 1979), so the issue remains unresolved.

When Daily Activities were analyzed, the analysis of variance showed significance on the variable Research, but this is not a true significance because the mean amount of time spent on research was very small and almost all of the time involved was attributed to the smallest group (No Responses (N=26) = 6.3 minutes; Yes (N=74) = .6 minutes; No (N=30) = 0 minutes). Therefore, one cannot be sure that the significance indicated by ANOVA is not a function of sample size (Roscoe, 1975). Also, the variances were not homogenious (Bartlett-Box \underline{F} = 73.66, \underline{p} <.01), although the groups may be large enough to negate the effects of heterogeneity (Walker, 1985). Little confidence can be placed in this result.

However, on the Testing activity, the Scheffe test confirmed significance, and the variances were sufficiently homogenious. The 'No' group did only half as much testing as the other two groups (No Response = 124.8 min.; 'Yes' = 124.2 min.; 'No' = 63 min.). This seems to suggest that this group answered 'No' to the question, "Was this a typical day?" because they did less testing on that day. However, this assumption is not compatible with their comments, which suggested that many of them believed there is no typical day in their job. Therefore, this statistically significant difference on the testing function may not have any real significance in practice. The 'No' group may actually do less testing, but this may have no bearing on their reply to the Typical Day question. If the significance is, indeed, credible, it would still be better to include the whole group in the study, rather

than reduce the sample group to a very small size, while acknowledging that the results may underestimate the amount of testing typically conducted by the sample group.

Daily Activities

Based on the 130 usable questionnaires, results were analyzed using the aggregate mean to describe the time spent on each activity. The mean was used because mean time is more accurate than opinion scales, a more powerful indicator than simple frequency counts, and the arithmetic mean is more sensitive to any change in data values and more suitable for ratio data than other measures of central tendency (Babbie, 1973; Weinberg & Goldberg, 1979; Gay, 1981). The actual daily functions of the school psychologists were examined according to the amount of time spent on each activity, to provide objective data about which role activities Canadian school psychologists chose to occupy their valuable Table 1 shows the mean time in minutes on a given day over the entire group for each activity. In addition, standard deviations were reported for each activity to give an indication of the variability of time spent on each task within the sample of psychologists. The five major activities that occupy the psychologists' day are summarized in Table 2, showing what percent of the day each occupied, to provide a more generalized conception of their role functions.

Insert Table 1 and Table 2 about here

Note that these data were computed for the entire survey as a whole, not only for those who reported participating in each individual activity.

This was done in an attempt to provide a profile of the typical school

TABLE I

Mean Time Spent on Daily Activities

Activity	Mean Time/Day ^a	sp^b
Assessment - Testing	110	86
Assessment - Reports	67	63
Assessment - Observation	12	31
Consultation/Teachers	86	52
Consultation/Specialists	33	51
Consultation/Parents	38	44
Class Intervention	6	27
Counselling Individual Students	18	38
Counselling Groups of Students	2	9
Research	2	9
Program Development	8	30
Conducting Inservices	7	37
Attending Inservices	1	10
Driving	41	51
Personal	48	29
Other	20	47

 $a_{\text{time in minutes on a given day for the entire group (n = 130)}$

 $^{^{\}mathrm{b}}\mathrm{standard}$ deviation

TABLE 2

Comparison Summary for Daily Activities

(Time spent on major activities for present and similar research)

	Present S	tudy ^a	Lacayo et al., 198		
Activity	M Minutes	%/Day	M Minutes	%/Day	
Assessment	189	38%	194	39%	
Consultation	157	31%	159	33%	
Other (Inservices, Intervention, etc.)	64	13%	57	12%	
Personal (Lunch, coffee)	48	10%	50	10%	
Driving	42	8%	29	6%	
Totals	500	100%	489	100%	

 $a_n = 130$

 $b_n = 335$

psychologist's day on a national basis (Lacayo et al., 1981). The proportion of time spent on the five major activities in a similar study by Lacayo, Sherwood, and Morris (1981) is included in Table 2, based on the mean time and percent of the day for each of the five major activities.

The five major activities conducted by school psychologists included assessment, consultation, 'other' activities, personal activities, and driving. Assessment activities consisted of testing, writing reports, and naturalistic observation. School psychologists in Canada appeared to spend the largest amount of time (38%) on assessment activities. Consultation activities included meeting with teachers. consulting with other specialists, and interviews with parents. Consultation appeared to be a primary activity for the group of psychologists, with the second highest amount of time (31%) spent on this function. A wide variety of 'other' activities (including classroom intervention, counseling students, program development, inservices, and research) occupied 13% of the psychologist's time. included in this category were additional activities such as university teaching, locating prescriptive materials, preparation, committee meetings, working on summary statistics or budgets, as well as correspondence and telephoning. Apparently school psychologists' time for personal activities, such as lunch or coffee breaks, was brief, averaging less than an hour a day. Some psychologists spent their lunch hours in meetings or driving to another school. Finally, driving from one educational facility to another occupied a considerable portion of the school psychologists' day. On the given day, the entire group of

To determine whether contextual factors may interact to affect the content and performance of role, the sample of school psychologists was analyzed on the basis of several contextual factors, including individual characteristics (education level, specialization in training, and certification, etc.), and the physical properties of the organization in which they work (size and type of school setting, and type of job context). Background characteristics of the psychologists who responded are presented in Table 3, listed according to frequency of occurrance.

Insert Table 3 about here

The actual functions of the school psychologists were broken down according to certain background characteristics suggested in the literature review to see whether these background variables appeared to have any effect on role function. Analysis of variance was used to determine significance (p = <.05).

Data Analysis

Analysis of variance was chosen because it is a powerful technique for examining the interactions of two or more variables, robust to departures from normality (Gay, 1981), and thus is suitable for analyzing the results of a survey with poor returns. If no differences were found, there would be no need to examine the means further by other statistical methods, because it could be concluded that no difference exists, except for random error (Hopkins & Anderson, 1973; Hopkins &

Frequency of Background Characteristics (n=130)

AGE - 25		Count	Percent
26-35		2	1%
		34	26
		57	44
		27	21
	P	10	8
CENDER		59 71	45%
JOB TITLE	Psychologist	75	55 58%
	Coordinator	23	
	Director	9	18 7
	Senior Psychologist	9 7	, 5
	Consultant	7	5
	Supervisor	6	5
	Assistant Superintendent	2	2
36-45 46-55 55+ ENDER F M OB TITLE Psy Coo Din Sen Con Sup Ass XPERIENCE 0 16 11 2 DUCATION Doc Mas Bac UMBER OF PUPILS - 5 500 100 YPE OF Rur CHOOL SETTING Sub Sma Urb YPE OF Alo DB CONTEXT Tea DMINISTRATIVE No DSITION HELD Yes PECIALIZATIOND Sch	0 - 1	3	2%
	· •	44	34
		44	34
	11 - 20	32	25
	20+	5	4
EDUCATION	Doctor	26	20%
	Master	8 5	65
	Bachelor	18	14
NUMBER OF PUPILS	- 5000	69	57%
	5000 - 10000	22	18
	10000+	31	25
TYPE OF	Rural	48	37%
SCHOOL SETTING	Suburban	15	12
	Small Town	37	28
	Urban	28	22
TYPE OF	Alone	40	31%
JOB CONTEXT	Team of Professionals	44	34
	Team of Psychologists	45	35
ADMINISTRATIVE		78	60%
POSITION HELD	Yes	51	39
SPECIALIZATION ^b	School Psychologist	60	33%
	Counseling	41	22
	Clinical	35	19
	Special Education	28	15
	Development Psychology	9	5
	Administration	4	2
	Other	7	4
CERTIFICATIOND	Teacher	67	36%
	Psychologist	57	31
	School Psychologist	38	20
	Counseling	14	8
	Not Applicable	7	4
	Other .	2	1

 $^{^{\}mathrm{a}}\mathrm{Percents}$ are based on those respondents who replied to the item.

 $^{^{\}mathrm{b}}\mathrm{Multiple}$ responses were given.

Glass, 1978). Where a significant \underline{F} value was found on the analysis of variance, further a posteriori procedures for multiple comparisons (the Scheffe test) were conducted on those variables to identify which differences among the means were significant (Hopkins & Anderson, 1973; Roscoe, 1975). Since the Scheffe test is even more conservative than ANOVA (Hopkins & Anderson, 1973), there should be little possibility of finding significant values where none exist (Type I error). analysis, comparing the amount of time spent on each activity by background could produce misleading results if the number of each group is very small (as was the case in some areas of specialization, where, for example, only one person listed research as his specialty). problem was overcome by combining all groups containing less than 15 observations into one larger category, thus reducing the degree of sample error associated with small groups (Moser & Kalton, 1974; Benson & Hughes, 1985). Using the aggregate mean should also mask differences between the individuals.

Another problem existed with the unequal sizes of the groups created by the demographic variables. Unequal sample sizes could cause heterogeneous variances, which would violate an important assumption of analysis of variance (that of homogeneity of variances), and increase the possibility of a Type I error (Walker, 1985). This problem was controlled by the use of the Scheffe test, which is suitable for unequal sized samples. Since the Scheffe is also insensitive to departures from normality and homogeneity of variances (Hopkins & Anderson, 1973; Roscoe, 1975; Gay, 1978), the use of the Scheffe test a posteriori guards against excessive Type I error (Walker, 1985). In cases where

the Scheffe test could not be applied (such as in analysis with only two groups), homogeneity of variance was measured by means of the Bartlett-Box \underline{F} test (Kirk, 1968; Norusis, 1983), as an additional check. However, in the case of the administrators, the group sizes were large enough (more than 30) to make the effects of heterogeneity essentially negligible (Weinberg & Goldberg, 1979; Walker, 1985).

A further potential difficulty was anticipated with the variables Specialization and Certification, because multiple responses were given, making the groups within these variables randomly interrelated, although the categories themselves were theoretically independent. However, because no treatment was administered, and because group means (rather than individual means) were used for each activity in the analysis, it would seem that the effects of any possible nonindependence would be negligible (Peckham et al., 1969). Also, there was no overlap in the certification categories of school psychologist and psychologist, with none of the respondents listing certification in both, so lack of independence was reduced for that factor. Indeed, the results found no significant interaction between the daily activities and Specialization and Certification, so a Type I error was avoided. However, it is possible that using analysis of variance in this instance may have decreased the power of the test (Walker, 1985), increasing the probability of finding no difference when in fact a differenc does exist.

Significant differences were found for only three demographic variables. The results show that those holding an administrative position did significantly less testing, $\underline{F}(1,126) = 10.31$, $\underline{p} < .001$. On

the other hand, adminstrators spent more time consulting with other specialists than did psychologists who were not in an administrative position, $\underline{F}(1,126)=5.79$, $\underline{p}<.05$; and also spent the most time on 'other' activities (such as budgets, telephoning, etc.), $\underline{F}(1,126)=5.09$, $\underline{p}<.05$. Psychologists who worked in school divisions with pupil populations over 10,000 spent the most time consulting with other specialists, $\underline{F}(2,128)=3.79$, $\underline{p}<.05$; while driving took up significantly more time in rural areas, $\underline{F}(3,123)=3.02$; $\underline{p}<.05$.

As an additional check, type of school setting was reorganized into two larger groups, combining Rural and Small Town into one group labelled 'Rural' and combining Urban and Suburban into one group labelled 'Rural'. (This was done to determine whether the rather small numbers in some groups, such as only 15 in the Suburban category, may have confounded the results.) Then, type of school district was analyzed by means of analysis of variance to determine whether the disproportionately large number of rural psychologists in the small group may have affected the activities reported. Results similar to previous analysis were obtained, with significant effects on the variables consultation and driving. In addition, results now suggest that the 'other' variable was significantly affected ($\underline{F}(1,125) = 4.98$, $\underline{P} < .05$), with rural psychologists participating in less other activities (such as teaching, budgets, correspondence, etc.).

Perceptions of training are listed in Table 4, which shows the percent of respondents who rated their training by using a scale from 1

to 5 to describe how adequate it was.

Insert Table 4 about here

When asked to comment on the value of their training in preparing them for their current job functions, psychologists generally gravitated toward the median response, with 24% stating that their training was less adequate, 31% rating it as adequate, and 33% rating their training as more adequtae. Few took the extreme position, as only 6% thought their training was very adequate, while 4% thought it was not at all adequate. Perceptions of training were then compared to demographic information to determine whether training backgroundmight have an effect on the psychologists' perception of their training, using analysis of variance, at the p = < .05 level of significance. Again, the Scheffe test was used to control for unequal group sizes. No significant differences were found for certification, area of specialization, nor level of education. Table 5 shows the subject matter named by the respondents as the most useful part of their training, showing the percent cited for each. School psychologists most frequently listed training in testing (42%) as the most useful part of their training. Also, many (24%) thought that practicums were most useful, while others (8%) mentioned training in counseling skills. When asked to identify areas that were given insufficient emphasis in training, a wide variety of subjects were suggested. Table 6 shows the subject matter listed by the school psychologists in which there was not enough emphasis in their training.

TABLE 4

Perceptions of Training

Training Adequate?	Frequency	Per Cent
Not at all adequate	5	4%
Less adequate	31	24%
Adequate	40	31%
More adequate	43	33%
Very adequate	8	6%
(No response)	3	2%
TOTAL	130	100%

Inset Tables 5 and 6 about here

According to those surveyed, not enough emphasis was placed on counseling (19%), program planning (22%), and school systems (10%). A variety of other suggestions were made for training, including more emphasis on diagnosis of learning problems, practicums, testing, education, diagnosis of abnormality, mental illness, and behavior management. Some psychologists commented that more training in counseling young children and adolescents was needed, as well as more training in the application of test data.

Discussion

Methodological Difficulties

The return rate (39%) is much lower than the recommended rate of 50% to 70% (Babbie, 1973; Gay, 1981), but is not dissimilar to national surveys in the U.S., where the majority of returns were in the 30 to 40% range. Generally, it is more difficult to obtain membership lists and ensure returns with a national sruvey (Babbie, 1973). Poor returns may have been partially caused by the difficulty in identifying the population of school psychologists, and the cluster sampling technique subsequently used. However, the cluster technique was useful for identifying a national sample of school psychologists, and its use does not invalidate the methods of statistical analysis used. For statistical purposes, the cluster sampling method employed in this study is sufficient to allow analysis of the results, although the conclusions may be weakened (Babbie, 1973; Winberg & Goldberg, 1979). Low returns may also have been partially caused by respondents viewing the

TABLE 5

Most Useful Part of Training

Subject	Frequency ^a	Per Cent
Testing	59	42%
Practicum	34	24%
Other (Administration, research, etc.)	15	11%
Counselling & Consultation	11	8%
Behavior Management	6	4%
Clinical	5	3%
Diagnosis of Abnormality	. 4	3%
Diagnosis of Learning	4	3%
Program Planning	3	2%
Total .	141	100%

 $a_{n} = 123$ (Multiple responses were given.)

TABLE 6

Not Enough Emphasis in Training

Subject	Frequency ^a	Per Cent
Program Planning	27	22%
Counselling	23	19%
Other	13	11%
School Systems & Organizational Psychology	12	10%
Diagnosis of Learning	7	6%
Testing	6	5%
Practicum	6	5%
Education	5	4%
Mental Illness	4	3%
Diagnosis of Abnormality	4	3%
Behavior Management	4	3%
Educational Psychology	3	2%
Personality Testing	3	2%
Prepare Inservices	3	2%
Practical Information	3	2%
Total	123	100%

 $a_{n} = 112$ (Multiple responses were given.)

daily activities list as too time consuming, since a large number (about 22) returned blank and partially completed questionnaires.

The low returns affected not only the confidence placed in the results, but the small sample that resulted caused difficulties when an attempt was made to divide it into groups for analysis. Thus, highly stringent methods of data analysis were used, to avoid making overgenerlaizations from a small sample. This meant that some effects of the background variables were probably not detected. However, in any survey research, some compromise must be found between maximizing the information obtained and allowing for the limitations of the sample selected. Similarly, the lack of consensus over whether this was a typical day increased the need to substantiate the present findings through broader population sampling. However, these difficulties do not mean that the entire research project should be abandoned. Instead, it does seem better to use the data with caution, recognizing the limitations, but also recognizing that flawed results are better than no results at all (Sudman & Bradburn, 1983).

Daily Activities

The results of the daily activities analysis are very similar to the American research. For example, Lacayo et al. (1981) reported that assessment was the main activity for American school psychologists, with 39% of the day spent in assessment, while Canadian school psychologists occupied 38% of the day with assessment. However, Canadian school psychologists spent little time on the observation function, which would indicate a less broad focus for assessment than that depicted by the literature's ideal role model. One must conclude that, if this sample

can be viewed as representative of Canadian school psychologists,

Canadian psychologists are largely preoccupied with assessment

activities, in keeping with the traditional model of school psychology.

The consultation activity was similarly congruent with the Lacayo et al. (1981) results, with consultation ranking second on the list of important activities. One might infer that those activities which consume the most time are the most centrally important to the role, and, if not, too much time spent on less important job functions would produce conflict and role dissatisfaction (Kahn et al., 1981). The 'other' category of activities consumed a considerable amount of time when added together, but, taken individually, none of these activities occupied much of the psychologists' day. Unfortunately, driving - a mundane chore that would obviously be low in priority on any list of important role functions - nevertheless required a substantial portion of time, possibly causing some stress on role performance and job satisfaction. Although perhaps not directly pertinent to the role of school psychologists, personal time is of practical importance, necessary to a person's physical and psychological well-being, and thus the amount of time spent on personal activities could as as a stressor to influence role. The school psychologists appeared to have little time for personal activities.

Within limitations, this study does offer some indication of the unique aspects of the role of the school psychologist in Canada. Some conclusions can be formed about their role bsed on the list of daily activities, since these acts are the building blocks of the role model. School psychologists are depicted in a fairly traditional

assessment-oriented role model. They function primarily as assessment experts within the school system, working more independently and less often in the multidisciplinary team setting than the U.S. educational policy demands. Apparently, Canadian school psychologists may spend less time in developing broad assessment practices, learning-orientd interventions, and change agent functions than the ideal presented by some research literature. However, the activities described by this survey are quite similar in both content and time to the American study by Lacayo et al. (1981), which used basically the same method of obtaining the information. Perhaps, when opinions and subjective judgements are reduced, results that depict a more realistic description of the role of school psychologists differ somewhat from the ideal presented by opinion surveys and theoretical discussion papers. present results suggest that Canadian school psychologists indicate a broad and varied array of job functions, but are primarily occupied with their traditional assessment role.

Contextual Factors

Because contextual factors may be an important factor in defining role, the demographic characteristics were examined thoroughly.

Although few research surveys reported detailed demographic data, the present sample seems quite similar with respect to variety of specialization in training and the number of psychologists with teacher certification, but does seem somewhat different from other research samples on the basis of education (others reported only 1 to 2% Bachelor level), rural/urban setting (12 to 22% rural), and administrative position (7 to 9%) (Keogh et al., 1975; Meacham & Peckham, 1978; Evans,

Fisher et al., 1986). These differences could be interpreted either as resulting from a biased sample, or from real differences in a Canadian population.

<u>Individual Characteristics</u>

Role theory suggests that characteristics of the individual, such as type of education or standard of training, are contextual factors that may have an influence on role functions. For example, certification is a normative procedure that forces certain professional standards on the individual. Certification requirements varied from one province to another in Canada, with some provinces requiring no special certification for people working as school psychologists, so that only 73% of this sample (95 subjects) were certified psychologists. A fairly substantial portion of the respondents (52%) held teacher certificates, which would lead one to expect a closer understanding and involvement in classroom activities. Also, since almost 14% of the respondents were educated only to the Bachelor degree level, one would expect level of education to have some effect on the duties undertaken by this group. However, when unequal size of the groups was controlled, no significant differences could be found for certification, for specialization in training, nor for education. Training does not seem to have as dominant an effect on role function as one might expect. However, effects could be undetectable due to the small returns, since studies involving groups with few observations have little power to detect differences (Peckham et al., 1969).

Organizational Structure

Organizational variables, such as those which describe the status or position of the role in the organizational hierarchy, also (according to the literature) should have some influence on the content of that role. However, type of job content (whether one works alone, as a member of a group of psychologists, or as the only psychologist in a team of other professionals) seemed to have no effect on the specific job functions, despite the fact that almost thirty-one percent of the sample worked as the only specialist in the school division. One would expect that administrative position might have a significant effect on the daily activities of those school psychologists, since thirty-six percent of the respondents were in this position. The amount of time spent on testing, consultation, and 'other' activities was significantly affected by the disproportionately high number of administrators in the respondent group.

Organizational Properties

Finally, the physical properties of the organization apparently form a given determinant for role sending, by setting the environment for role enactment. Size and population of the school district in which the psychologist works could affect the form and content of the role in a qualitative as well as quantitative way, through both work load and distribution in space. Also, because 37% of the returns came from rural school districts, rural psychologists appeared to form a disproportionately high number in this sample. Based on the research literature, one would expect many role activities to vary as a result of the importance of urban-rural differences. However, type of school

setting had an influence on only two factors in this analysis consultation and driving; and a third variable, 'other' activities,
showed significance when the rural-urban groups were combined into
larger groups. The addition of a third significant result when groups
were made larger seems to indicate that influences on at least one of
the demographic variables were not detectable due to the rather small
sample group. A larger sample is needed to properly assess the effects
of demographics.

Thus, some demographic variables did affect a few activities, including driving, 'other', and consultation, and it does seem logical that these particular activities would be affected. But why were other activities mentioned in the literature, such as assessment, not affected? Many of the articles that emphasized the importance of contextual factors were discussion papers rather than research studies (Ysseldyke, 1978; Bardon, 1982; Kratochwill, 1985). Those who did conduct actual research often used ratings and opinions, and further increased the inaccuracy of their results by using multiple t tests and multiple chi-square to analyze their results (Meacham & Peckham, 1978; Evans, 1979; Hughes & Clark, 1981; Fisher et al., 1986). The use of these techniques increased the probability of obtaining chance significant differences (Babbie, 1973). It would seem that perhaps the literature overemphasized the importance of contextual factors, and that the reality is more in line with role theorists, who recently gave contextual factors a lessor part in role determination. However, only a larger, more representative sample can resolve this question.

Role theory and the literature review suggest that background

variables should have some effect on the activities of school psychologists, although those literature results are somewhat questionable and some theorists minimize the effects of individual characteristis. Indeed, no differences could be found in the present results when daily activities were varied as a function of factors such as training background. However, it seems implausible that training background would have no effect on role activities, despite theoretical arguments to the contrary. In the present study, small or even medium amounts of influence could have been missed due to the fairly stringent methods used to analyze the results, combined with the relatively small sample size. In an effort to compensate for the limited returns, we may have failed to get the maximum amount of useful information from our data (Peckham et al., 1969). The daily activities of school psychologists did vary as a function of a few contextual factors, including administrative position, size of pupil population, and rural vs urban school district, but these results may be biased. researcher must make judgements based on knowledge of the subject (Eckhardt & Ermann, 1977), and it seems logical that Canada may provide a unique setting for school psychologists, in that many of them work in settings in which the population is thinly and widely scattered, resulting in more time wasted on travelling, and fewer opportunities for consultation. Limited by the practical considerations of their environment, psychologists may have responded by focusing on their major role function - assessment. Also, a tendency toward education at the Masters level (with quite a few having qualifications below that level), as well as additional training in teaching, may tend to foster a more

narrow, child-oriented (rather than systems-oriented) approach. Thus this study improved on previous research by thoroughly describing and analyzing the effects of demographic varibles, a factor too often neglected. However, due to the sampling problems and the method of statistical analysis used, the question regarding the iportance of contextual factors to the role of the school psychologist in Canada remains unanswered.

Training

Canadian psychologists appeared to be generally satisfied with their university training (adequate or better = 69.8%), although many useful suggestions were offered for additional courses needed. The general consensus seems to be that the role of the school psychologist rquires a broad background in both assessment and the various aspects of psychology and learning, with a flexible training program that provides opportunity for application of learning, and practical experience.

Training suggestions, which included courses dealing with practical as well as theoretical information, tended to support the creation of an applied educational psychology specialty. Universities and professional development organizers could probably benefit from the recommendations for training. However, training suggestions were extremely varied, lacking the conviction that would have been provided by large numbers.

A larger sample is needed to provide better quality information.

The Daily Activities questionnaire used in this survey had both advantages and disadvantages in its design and content. The questionnaire used by Lacayo et al. (1981) was improved by providing more flexibility of time categories (15 minute intervals), a thorough

but brief list of activities, a sample activity form, and an opportunity for psychologists to express their perception of how well this particular day sampled their usual job functions. However, other improvements could be added. First, the instructions given for the Daily Activities portion should have included a suggestion that the respondent consult a daily diary or log, to aid in recalling the time spent, instead of just assuming that this would happen. Another improvement could be brief definitions of the activities, to reduce any possible variation in interpretations. Also, the question on typical day could have been missed by the respondents, due to its position immediately under the daily activities diary. The question could be made more salient by wider spacing and some unusual kind of type, such as capital letters, italics, or darker print. Similarly, the comments question at the end of the questionnaire should have been separated in some physical manner from the open-ended questions on training. Many of the comments that were elicited discussed training, as a response set by the earlier questions, instead of focusing on a wide range of topics. Perhaps it would have been better to replace the open-ended questions on training with structured choices, to avoid the selective recall and lack of experimenter control associated with open-ended questions in mailed However, the open-ended questions did offer variety of format and response. For the most part, the questionnaire seemed to be short, simple, and easy to read.

This study improved on recent research into the role of the school psychologist in a number of ways. Research into the role of the Canadian school psychologist was greatly needed to supplement American

research, to provide information about the Canadian role and how it is unique. Describing role model from the perspective of time spent in daily activities offered a less subjective image of the school psychologist than most previous literature had provided, although this picture was distorted by the poor returns. Despite the methodological difficulties, this study did provide some sort of base upon which to build future research in Canada, a first step towards describing the Canadian school psychologist, by showing the present state of the role model. Future research could use this study as a model for determining actual role. However, if documenting change and development is the goal, future studies should investigate both actual role and expectations simultaneously. Comparing actual to expectations in this way would allow a more theoretically complete study of role, a method that has not been properly attempted in the past. This study has further added to the body of knowledge on school psychologists in Canada by analyzing demographics in detail, and by suggesting training needs. Future Canadian surveys should investigate demographics and their relation to job functions, to resolve the questions raised in this study. Finally, better quality information is needed on training needs.

The study pointed out some of the methodological problems involved in Canadian research. The difficulty in contacting the population of school psychologists may suggest a weakness in their organization, a need for the stronger organizational structure that could be provided by a national association with national standards. In the meantime, perhaps higher returns could be accomplished by identifying a list of psychologists in a random sample of school divisions, then using a more

thorough cluster sampling technique. The entire sample of psychologists could then be randomly sampled, stratifying to ensure that every possible school division was included, and to ensure a proportional balance from rural and urban divisions. Random sampling within each division would also avoid an overabundance of administrators. However, this would be expensive and time consuming. Alternatively, the present survey could be followed by a more thorough sampling of one province, to obtain a larger research sample. In order to meet any or all of these recommendations, future surveys must make every effort to ensure a large sample.

Future researchers investigating thes psychologists' role could benefit from the questions raised by this thesis. For example, what effect do contextual variables have on role? Role theory suggests that the organizational context forms a given setting into which the role participant must enter, so that the setting is an important variable to consider in studying role. However, researchers do not agree about how much importance should be attributed to contextual factors. Although all contextual factors are worthy of study, it would be particularly interesting to find out in more detail how the Canadian school psychologist is unique from the American counterpart, and to find out which differences can be attributed to being a school psychologist (as opposed to a clinical psychologist), and which can be attributed to a Canadian setting. One might ask, "Which is more important as an object of investigation: the Canadian school psychologist or the school psychologist in Canada?"

Another question concerns role definition in general. Who defines

the role of school psychologists, and who should have control over the shaping of their future destiny? Role theory gives equal importance to all three aspects of role definition: the organizational context in which an individual works, the expectations of other members of the role set, and the actual behavior of the role participant. None should be ignored in any investigation of role. Researchers have tended to overemphasize the investigation of expectations and neglect the study of actual behavior, yet more information is needed about the realities of the field. The question of who defines the school psychologist's role could be answered by simply asking them directly: "Whom do you perceive as the most influential person or factor involved in defining your role, and why?"

Further theoretical discussions and surveys are needed to elaborate how education and training, professional standards and associations, can influence school psychologists in Canada. School psychology appears to be a profession still in its formative stages in Canada, so that growth and development of the role provides a fruitful ground for future research.

References

- Abel, R.R., Burke, J.P. Perceptions of school psychology services from a staff perspective. <u>Journal of School Psychology</u>, 1985, <u>23</u>, 121-131.
- Alpert, J.L. Some guidelines for school consultants. <u>Journal of School</u> Psychology, 1977, 15, 308-318.
- Babbie, E.R. <u>Survey research methods</u>. Belmont, Ca.: Wadsworth Pub. Co., 1973.
- Barbanel, L., Hoffenberg-Rutman, J. Attitudes toward job responsibilities and training satisfaction of school psychologists: A comparative study. <u>Psychology in the Schools</u>, 1974, 11, 425-429.
- Bardon, J. Small group synthesis, Group C. <u>School Psychology Review</u>, 1981, 10, 297-306.
- Bardon, J. School psychology's dilemma: A proposal for its resolution. <u>Professional Psychology</u>, 1982, <u>13</u>, 955-968.
- Bardon, J. Psychology applied to education: A specialty in search of an identity. American Psychologist, 1983, 38, 185-186.
- Benson, J.A., Hughes, J. Perceptions of role definition processes in school psychology: A national survey. School psychology Review, 1985, 14, 64-74.
- Bevan, M. On coming of age among the professions. <u>School Psychology</u> Review, 1981, <u>10</u>, 127-137.
- Bowen, C.E., Dalton, T. <u>Divergent perceptions of school psychological</u> <u>services</u>. Atlanta, Ga., 1981. (ERIC Document No. ED 205848).
- Bowser, P.B. (ed.) <u>School psychology and declining school budgets:</u>

 <u>Answering hard questions in economically hard times</u>, 1982. (ERIC Document No. ED 221776).
- Briggs, C.H. Transition in school psychological services: A case study. <u>Journal of School Psychology</u>, 1973, 11, 88-92.
- Brown, A.E. Intelligence tests and the politics of school psychology.

 Interchange, 1977, 7, 17-20.
- Capelle, R. <u>Changing human systems</u>. Toronto: International Human Systems, 1979.
- Carroll, T.G., Latham, E., Madonna, J., Foran, M. What does the school psychologist do? An ethnographic study of role transformation during organizational change: Final report. Clark University, Worcester, Mass. 1978. (ERIC Document No. ED 177833).

- Cegelka, W. The competencies needed by persons responsible for classifying children with learning disabilities. <u>Journal of Special Education</u>, 1982, <u>16</u>, 56-71.
- Clark, J.H., Reynolds, C.R. <u>Research trends in school psychology:</u> 1874-1980. Los Angeles, Ca., 1981. (ERIC Document No. ED 213068).
- Conoley, J.C., Gutkin, T.B. Education school psychologists for the real world. <u>School Psychology Review</u>, 1986, <u>15</u>, 457-465.
- Cook, V.J., Patterson, J.G. Psychologists in the schools of Nebraska: Professional functions. <u>Psychology in the Schools</u>, 1977, <u>14</u>, 371-376.
- Copeland, E.P., Miller, L.J. Training needs of prospective school psychologists: The practitioners' viewpoint. <u>Journal of School Psychology</u>, 1985, <u>23</u>, 247-254.
- Cowen, E.L., Lorion, R.P. Changing roles for the school mental health professional. <u>Journal of School Psychology</u>, 1976, <u>14</u>, 131-137.
- Cruickshank, W. A new perspective in teacher education: The neuroeducator. <u>Journal of Learning Disabilities</u>, 1981, <u>14</u>, 337-367.
- Davis, K.P. <u>Perceived role and effectiveness of school psychologists in IGE schools</u>. Technical Report No. 442. Doctoral dissertation, University of Wisconsin, Madison, 1977. (ERIC Document No. ED 154276).
- Dean, R.S. A comparison of preservice and experienced teachers' perceptions of the school psychologist. <u>Journal of School Psychology</u>, 1980, 18, 283-289.
- Eckhardt, K., Ermann, M. <u>Social research methods: Perspective, theory</u>
 & analysis. New York: Random House, 1977.
- Eitel, S.B., Lamberth, J.J., Hyman, I.A. Time utilization study of school psychologists in an urban setting. <u>Psychology in the Schools</u>, 1984, <u>21</u>, 329-35.
- Engin, A.W., Johnson, R. School psychology training and practice: The NASP perspective. In T.R. Kratochwill (ed.) <u>Advances in school psychology, Vol. III</u>. Hillsdale, N.J.: Lawrence Erlbaum, 1983.
- Evans, P.L. A model for conducting needs assessments and a report on national ratios. New York, 1979. (ERIC Document No. ED 179052).
- Fagan, T. Special educational services and the school psychologist.

 <u>Journal of Learning Disabilities</u>, 1981, <u>14</u>, 383-384.
- Fagan, T. School psychology's dilemma: Reappraising solutions and directing attention to the future. School Psychology Review, 1987, 16, 6-21.

- Fairchild, T. The school psychologists' role as an assessment consultant. Psychology in the Schools, 1982, 19, 200-208.
- Fenn, C.E. Perceptions of the role of the school psychologist. <u>Journal</u> of the Association for the Study of Perception, 1977, 12, 27-31.
- Fenton, K.S., Yoshida, J., Maxwell, J., Kaufman, M. <u>Role expectations:</u>

 <u>Implications for multidisciplinary pupil programming</u>. Washington, D.C., 1977. (ERIC Document No. ED 157231).
- Fisher, G.L., Jenkins, S.J., Crumbley, J.D. A replication of a survey of school psychologists: Congruence between training, practice, preferred role, and competence. <u>Psychology in the Schools</u>, 1986, 23, 271-279.
- Forcade, M.C. <u>The evaluation of severely handicapped children:</u>
 Strategies and techniques. Philadelphia, PA, 1984. (ERIC Document No. 251780).
- Ford, J.D., Migles, M. The role of the school psychologist: Teachers' preferences as a function of personal and professional characteristics. <u>Journal of School Psychology</u>, 1979, <u>17</u>, 373-77.
- Gay, L.R. Educational research. Toronto: C.E. Merrill, 1981.
- Genshaft, J. A reaction to "A national survey on students' and practitioners' perceptions of training". <u>School Psychology Review</u>, 1984, 13, 406-07.
- Gerkin, K.C. <u>Serving minority children in rural settings</u>: A personal <u>perspective</u>. Los Angeles, 1981. (ERIC Document No. 214045).
- Giebink, J.W., Ringness, T.A. On the relevancy of training in school psychology. <u>Journal of School Psychology</u>, 1970, <u>8</u>, 43-47.
- Gilmore, G.E., Chandy, J. Teachers' perceptions of school psychological services. <u>Journal of School Psychology</u>, 1973, 11, 139-147.
- Graden, J., Christenson, S., Ysseldyke, J., Meyers, J. A national survey on students' and practitioners' perceptions of training. School Psychology Review, 1984, 13, 397-405.
- Granowsky, S., Davis, L.T. Three alternative roles for the school psychologist. <u>Psychology in the Schools</u>, 1974, 11, 415-420.
- Gresham, F.M. <u>Handbook for behavioral consultation</u>. 1982. (ERIC Document No. ED 223953).
- Grimes, J. Shaping the future of school psychology. <u>School Psychology</u> <u>Review</u>, 1981, <u>10</u>, 206-231.
- Grubb, R. Shaping the future of school psychology: A reaction. <u>School Psychology Review</u>, 1981, <u>10</u>, 243-258.

- Hartshorne, T.S., Johnson, M.C. The actual and preferred roles of the school psychologist according to secondary school administrators.

 <u>Journal of School Psychology</u>, 1985, 23, 241-246.
- Hayes, M.E., Clair, T.N. School psychology Why is the profession dying? <u>Psychology in the Schools</u>, 1978, <u>15</u>, 518-521.
- Hendrix, D. Evaluation of learning disabilities: Who should test what? <u>Journal of Learning Disabilities</u>, 1981, <u>14</u>, 82-83.
- Hohenshil, T.H. Call for redirection: A vocational educator views school psychology services. <u>Journal of School Psychology</u>, 1975, 13, 58-62.
- Hopkins, K., Anderson, B. A guide to multiple comparison techniques: Criteria for selecting a method of choice. <u>Journal of Special Education</u>, 1973, 7, 319-328.
- Hopkins, K., Glass, G. <u>Basic statistics for the behavioral sciences</u>. Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice-Hall, 1978.
- Hughes, J.N., Clark, R.D. Differences between urban and rural school psychology: Training implications. <u>Psychology in the Schools</u>, 1981, 18, 191-196.
- Hynd, G., Quakenbush, R., Obrzut, J. Training school psychologists in neuropsychological assessment: Current practices and trends.

 <u>Journal of School Psychology</u>, 1980, <u>18</u>, 148-151.
- Illback, R.J., Maher, C.A. The school psychologist as an organizational boundary role professional. <u>Journal of School Psychology</u>, 1984, 22, 63-72.
- Kahl, L., Fine, M. Teachers' perceptions of the school psychologist as a function of teaching experience, amount of contact, and socioeconomic status of the school. <u>Psychology in the Schools</u>, 1978, <u>15</u>, 577-583.
- Kahn, R.L., Wolfe, D.M., Quinn, R.P., Snoek, J.D., Rosenthal, R.A.

 Organizational stress: Studies in role conflict and ambiguity
 (2nd ed.). Malabar, Fa.: R.E. Krieger, 1981.
- Kaplan, M., Chrin, M., Clancy, B. Priority roles for school psychologists as seen by superintendents. <u>Journal of School Psychology</u>, 1977, <u>15</u>, 75-79.
- Katz, D., Kahn, R.L. <u>The social psychology of organizations (2nd ed.)</u>. New York: John Wiley & Sons, 1978.
- Kaufman, N. A national survey on students' and practitioners' perceptions of training. <u>School Psychology Review</u>, 1984, <u>13</u>, 397-405.

- Keogh, B.K., Kubic, S., Becker, L., McLoughlin, R., Kukic, M. School psychologists' services in special education programs. <u>Journal of School Psychology</u>, 1975, <u>13</u>, 143-147.
- Kirk, R.E. <u>Experimental design: Procedures for the behavioral sciences</u>. Belmont, Ca.: Wadsworth Pub. Co., 1968.
- Kirschner, F.E. School psychology as viewed by the supervisors of school psychological services. <u>Journal of School Psychology</u>, 1971, 9, 343-346.
- Kratochwill, T.R. <u>Advances in school psychology. Vol. IV</u>. Hillsdale, New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Ass. 1985.
- Lacayo, N., Sherwood, G., Morris, J. Daily activities of school psychologists: A national survey. <u>Psychology in the Schools</u>, 1981, 18, 184-190.
- Landau, S.E., Gerkin, K.C. Requem for the testing role? The perceptions of adminsitrators vs teachers. School Psychology Digest, 1979, 8, 202-206.
- Lesiak, W.J., Lounsbury, E. Views of school psychological services: A comparative study. <u>Psychology in the schools</u>, 1977, <u>14</u>, 185-187.
- Lewis, R.L. <u>Classroom reading and assessment:</u> Bridging the gap. Philadelphia, Pa. 1984. (ERIC Document No. ED 252767).
- Maggs, A., White, R. The educational psychologist: Facing a new era. Psychology in the Schools, 1982, 19, 129-134.
- Maher, C.A., Yoshida, R.K. Multidisciplinary teams in the schools:

 Current status and future possibilities. In T.R. Kratochwill (Ed.)

 Advances in School Psychology, Vol. IV. Hillsdale, N.J.: Lawrence
 Erlbaum, 1985.
- Maroldo, G.K. The way of the dinosaur: Will school psychologists become extinct? 1972. (ERIC Document No. ED 119030).
- McBride, H.J., Morrow, R.D. <u>The psychologist as a change-agent in providing in-service training to staff members serving school-aged severely retarded</u>. Atlanta, Ga., 1977. (ERIC Document No. ED 140571).
- Meacham, M.L., Peckham, P.D. School psychologists at three-quarters century: Congruence between training, practice, preferred role and competence. <u>Journal of School Psychology</u>, 1978, <u>16</u>, 195-206.
- Medway, F.J. A social psychological approach to internally based change in schools. <u>Journal of School Psychology</u>, 1975, <u>13</u>, 19-27.
- Medway, F.J. Teachers' knowledge of school psychologists' responsibilities. <u>Journal of School Psychology</u>, 1977, <u>15</u>, 301-306.

- Miller, J.N. Consumer response to theoretical models in school psychology. <u>Journal of School Psychology</u>, 1974, <u>12</u>, 310-17.
- Miller, W.D. A new role for school psychologists Who needs it? <u>Psychology in the Schools</u>, 1978, <u>15</u>, 514-518.
- Monroe, V. Roles and status of school psychology. In G. Phye & D. Reschly (Eds.), <u>School Psychology: Perspective and Issues</u>. New York: Academic Press, 1979.
- Moser, C., Kalton, G. <u>Survey methods in social investigation</u>. New York: Basis Books, 1974.
- Morse, W.C. <u>Rituatlism and reality in school psychology</u>. Philadelphia: Pa., 1980. (ERIC Document No. ED 187072).
- Murray, J.N., Wallbrown, F.H. School psychological services for learning disabled students. <u>Journal of Learning Disabilities</u>, 1981, 14, 385-387.
- Norusis, M.J. SPSSX user's guide (2nd ed.). Toronto: McGraw-Hill, 1986.
- Oakland, T. An interaction model for special education and school psychology. Chicago, Ill., 1976. (ERIC Document No. ED 142028).
- Peckham, P.D., Glass, G., Hopkins, K. The experimental unit in statistical analysis. <u>Journal of Special Education</u>, 1969, <u>3</u>, 337-349.
- Reilly, D.H. School psychology: The continuing search. <u>Psychology in the Schools</u>, 1984, <u>21</u>, 66-70.
- Reschly, D.J. A reaction to "A national survey on students' and practitioners' perceptions of training". <u>School Psychology Review</u>, 1984, 13, 405-406.
- Roberts, R.D. Perceptions of actual and desired role functions of school psychologists by psychologists and teachers. <u>Psychology in the Schools</u>, 1970, 7, 175-178.
- Robinson, G.A. <u>Assessment and planning with low incidence populations:</u>

 <u>A functional and chronological age appropriate approach for school psychologists</u>. 1983. (ERIC Document No. ED 240774).
- Robinson, V.M.J., Cameron, M.M., Raethel, A.M. Negotiation of a consultative role for school psychologists: A case study.

 <u>Journal of School Psychology</u>, 1985, <u>23</u>, 43-49.
- Roos, L.L., Starke, F.A. Organizational roles. In P.C. Nystrom & W.H. Starbuck (Eds.), <u>Handbook of organizational design: Vol. 1.</u>
 Adapting organizations to their environments. New York: Oxford University Press, 1981.

- Roscoe, J. <u>Fundamental research statistics for the behavioral sciences</u> (2nd ed.). New York: Holt, Rinehart & Winston, 1975.
- Rosenfield, S. Small group synthesis, Group A. <u>School Psychology</u> Review, 1981, <u>10</u>, 285-289.
- Sandoval, J., Lambert, N. Instruments for evaluating school psychologists' functioning and service. <u>Psychology in the Schools</u>, 1977, 14, 172-179.
- Schapira, J., Meacham, M., Peckham, P. <u>School psychology in the United</u>
 <u>States and Ontario, Canada: A comparative analysis</u>. San Francisco,
 Cal., 197. (ERIC Document No. ED 150502).
- Scholl, G. The role and function of the school psychologist. In G. Scholl (Ed.), <u>The School Psychologist and the Exceptional Child.</u> Reston, Va.: Publication Sales, 1985.
- Seaton, J.B. Communication disorders: The school psychologist's role.

 <u>Language</u>, Speech and Hearing Services in Schools, 1975, 6, 106-112.
- Senf, G., Senf, J. 1981-82 readership job survey results. <u>Journal of Learning Disabilities</u>, 1982, <u>15</u>, 139-144.
- Senft, L., Clair, T. Iowa survey reveals principals' perceptions of school psychologists. <u>The School Psychologist</u>, 1972, <u>27</u>, 34-35.
- Shellenberger, S., Couch, K.W. The school psychologist's pivotal role in promoting the health and well-being of children. <u>School Psychology Review</u>, 1984, <u>13</u>, 211-215.
- Stewart, K.J. School psychologists as researchers: An approach for initiating training and practice. <u>Psychology in the Schools</u>, 1984, 21, 211-214.
- Sudman, S., Bradburn, N. <u>Asking questions: A practical guide to questionnaire design</u>. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 1983.
- Timm, F.H. School psychologists in corrections: A new frontier.

 <u>Journal of Vocational Special Needs Education</u>, 1982, <u>4</u>, 25-28.
- Tolor, A., Brannigan, G.G. How different are students of school psychology and clinical psychology? <u>Psychology in the Schools</u>, 1976, <u>13</u>, 279-283.
- Trachtman, G.M. On such a full sea. <u>School Psychology Review</u>, 1981, <u>10</u>, 138-181.
- Trott, L.A. Providing school psychological services to hearing-impaired students in New Jersey. American Annals of the Deaf, 1984, 129, 319-323.

- Vance, J.J. The school psychologist: his role in effecting educational outcomes. University of Georgia, 1971. (ERIC Document No. ED 140144).
- Vance, H., Gaynor, P., Coleman, M. <u>The utilization of consumer surveys</u> in assigning priorities to the allocation of school psychological <u>services</u>. Dallas, Texas, 1974. (ERIC Document No. ED 140144).
- Violato, C., Rattan, G., Gornall, M., Perks, B. The role of Canadian psychologists: Perceptions of a sample from the general public. <u>Journal of School Psychology</u>, 1981, 19, 222-225.
- Walker, J. <u>Using statistics for psychological research</u>. Toronto: Holt, Rinehart & Winston, 1985.
- Wallace, G., Larsen, S. <u>Educational assessment of learning problems:</u>
 <u>Testing for teaching</u>. Boston: Allyn & Bacon, 1978.
- Waters, L.G. School psychologists as perceived by school personnel: Support for a consultant model. <u>Journal of School Psychology</u>, 1973, <u>11</u>, 40-46.
- Weinberg, S., Goldberg, K. <u>Basic statistics for education and the behavioral sciences</u>. Boston: Houghton Mifflin, 1979.
- Weininger, O. The school psychologist as a chameleon. <u>Canadian</u> <u>Counselor</u>, 1971, <u>5</u>, 125-133.
- Winikur, D.W., Daniels, T. Trends in the role and function of New Jersey school psychologists. <u>The School Psychology Review</u>, 1982, 11, 438-441.
- Ysseldyke, J.E. Who's calling the plays in school psychology? Psychology in the Schools, 1978, 15, 373-379.
- Ysseldyke, J.E. Issues in psychoeducational assessment. In G. Phye & D. Reschly (Eds.), <u>School Psychology: Perspectives and Issues</u>, 1979, op. cit.
- Ysseldyke, J.E. The Spring Hill symposium on the future of psychology in the schools. <u>American Psychologist</u>, 1982, <u>37</u>, 547-552.

APPENDIX

School Psychologist Questionnaire



THE UNIVERSITY OF MANITOBA

Riva Bartell, Ph.D. FACULTY OF EDUCATION
Department of Educational Psychology

Winnipeg, Manitoba Canada R3T 2N2

April 26, 1985.

Dear School Psychologist:

Thank you for taking time from your busy schedule to respond to this national survey on the perceptions of the role and practice of school psychology in Canada.

I am the coordinator of the school psychology program at the University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, and a school psychologist myself.

The profession of school psychology has experienced an enormous and rapid expansion in recent years along with growing demands to meet the changing needs and expectations of children, schools, parents and the broader pluralistic Canadian society. As a result, the role of school psychologists has been increasingly defined and shaped by consumers of these services—teachers, principals, students—thus heightening the need for the profession to take stock and examine its own emerging identity.

The survey in front of you attempts to systematically examine the perceptions and the actual and desired role functions of school psychologists across Canada. It considers the perspectives of school psychologists (service providers) and those of principals and teachers (service consumers). This questionnaire has been mailed to the "school psychologist" of boards of education in Canada. In responding to and returning the completed questionnaire you ensure that your particular experience, circumstances and point of view will be taken into account in the comprehensive description of practice patterns, issues and challenges for school psychologists in Canada. At the same time, you are assured complete privacy as the questionnaire is totally anonymous.

The Planning and Research Branch of the Manitoba Department of Education is supporting this survey by providing use of their mail services. However, at all times I shall be solely and personally responsible for the careful handling of the information that you will provide. This information will be placed on computer tape at the University of Manitoba and once the accuracy of the tape has been verified, this questionnaire will be destroyed. The Ethics Review Committee of the Faculty of Education, University of Manitoba has given approval to this survey. ALL OF THE INFORMATION YOU PROVIDE IS CONFIDENTIAL. The results, in the aggregate form only, will be made available to professionals and academic researchers. I would be pleased to forward to you a summary report of this survey at your request.

You will notice that all the questionnaires in this package are marked with a matching code number. This will permit collating of responses from the same school boards. The numbered survey package that you have received was chosen randomly and does not in any way provide identifying information.

Feel free to change this number to some other six-digit number of your choice. If you do, please make the same change on all the other questionnaires in this package.

Please try to complete this survey as soon as possible and mail it back in the enclosed self-addressed, stamped envelope. It will probably take less than half an hour to complete.

Enclosed please find two envelopes addressed to "principal". Kindly forward these envelopes as promptly as possible to two principals of elementary schools (K-6) in your service area who meet the following criteria: (1) have served as principals in their respective schools for at least three years, and (2) whose schools have used school psychological services fairly regularly.

Please help to make the results of this survey truly representative of school psychologists in Canada. Your views are important.

Please mail the completed survey before May 30, 1985 if possible.

Thank you again for taking the time to complete and return this survey. You will have helped considerably.

Sincerely,

Riva Bartell, Ph.D., Associate Professor & Coordinator of School Psychology Program.

SCHOOL PSYCHOLOGIST QUESTIONNAIRE

Ι.	Background Characteristics
	The following information is for statistical purposes only. Responses will be combined with others to provide group statistics only.
	Please check () the appropriate response(s) for each question.
1.	Age: under 25 26-35 36-45 46-55 56-65+
2.	Gender: Male Female
3.	Your current job title:
4.	Years of employment experience as a school psychologist:
5.	What is your highest earned degree:
	B.A./B.Sc B. Ed M.A./M.Sc M. Ed Ph.D Ed. D
	Other (specify):
6.	Area(s) of specialization in your training:
	Special education School psychology School administration
	Clinical psychology Counseling & guidance Development psychology
	Other (specify):
7.	Certification or licenses you hold:
	Teacher Psychologist School Psychologist Counsellor
	Other (specify):
8.	Approximate number of students enrolled in your school district:
9.	Which of the following best describes the type of school setting in which you are employed:
	Rural Small town Suburban Urban
10.	In your service area, do you work: Alone
	With a team of psychologists With a team of other professionals (eg. social worker, speech pathologist, etc.)
11.	Do you currently hold an administrative position? YesNo
	Please specify:
12.	How many school psychologists are employed in your school division?

III. <u>Daily Activities</u>: The purpose of this section is to obtain a "feel" for a "day in the life of a school psychologist."

Please <u>describe</u> your job activities for <u>yesterday</u> (or your last working day). Provided below are response spaces divided into 15 minute intervals. An "Activity List" containing 16 possible activities of school psychologists and a sample "Daily Activities" sheet are provided below.

Time Sp	ent on	each Activi	ity in One Day:		
8:00 am	1 -		- 1:00 p	om –	
8:15	-		- 1:15	-	
8:30	-		- 1:30		
8:45	-		- 1:45	_	
9:00	_		- 2:00	_	
9:15	-		- 2:15	_	
9:30	-		- 2:30	_	
9:45	_		- 2:45	-	
10:00	-		- 3:00	_	
10:15	_		- 3:15	_	
10:30	-		- 3:30	_	
10:45	_		- 3:45	_	
11:00	_		- 4:00	 .	
11:15	-		- 4:15	_	
11:30	-		- 4:30		
11:45	_		- 4:45		
12:00	_		- 5:00	_	
12:15	-		- 5:15	_	
12:30	-		- 5:30	_	
12:45	-		· - 5:45	_	

Activity List:

1. Assessment - test administration

Was this a typical day?______If not, explain.

- 2. Assessment scoring, writing reports
- Assessment observation (in classroom, home, etc; of a student or instruction)
- Consultation with teachers, school staff (individual or meetings)
- Consultation with other specialists
- 6. Consultation with parents
- 7. Classroom intervention direct teaching, classroom management demonstration, etc.

- 8. Counseling individual students
- 9. Group counseling
- 10. Research
- 11. Program development
- 12. Conducting in-services, workshops
- 13. Attending workshop, in-service
- 14. Driving from one educational facility to another
- 15. Lunch, coffee, personal time
- 16. Other

(Sample Activity Form)

Time	Spent	on	each	Activity	in	One	Day:
	O P O	~	Caci	11001110		OHC	DULY .

			\		
8:00 am	-	- 1:00 p	m –`,		-
8:15	_	- 1:15	- /	andra da	_
8:30	- a station	- 1:30	- 1\	test	_
8:45	- Consultation	- 1:45	- (1	, -	_
9:00	- Consultation - with teacher	- 2:00	- 7	de interior	_
9:15	-	- 2:15	- 1	administration	_
9:30	- observing a child - in a classroom	- 2:30	- (_
9:45	- }	- 2:45	- 1		_
10:00	- In a classroom	- 3:00	-/		_
10:15	-]	- 3:15	-)	to a A a si i a i a	<i>,</i> –.
10:30	1 - 1000	- 3:30	- }	preparing information handout for teachers	w
10:45	3 coffee	- 3:45	- \		_
11:00	- Consultation with - she social worker	- 4:00	- [handout for teachers	_
11:15	- Consultation was	- 4:15	- 1	V	_
11:30	- the social worker	- 4:30	-/		_
11:45		- 4:45	_		_
12:00	-)	- 5:00	_		_
12:15	- Counch	- 5:15			_
12:30	- lunch	- 5:30	_		_
12:45	_)	- 5:45	_		_
		0.10			

- IV. Please respond to the following questions:
 - 1. How adequately did your training prepare you for your current job functions? Circle the most approproate number.

2. What was the most useful part of your training?

Not at all adequately 1....2....3....4....5 Very adequately

3. What area(s) was given insufficient emphasis?

4. Comments ____